IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK DELIMAN AND JANE DELIMAN

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2007-CA-00868

ANTHONY CLARK THOMAS, ACT ENVIRONMENTAL, INC., KENNETH G. ROBINSON, AND LYNDA S. ROBINSON

APPELLEES

ON THE APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORIGINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS PATRICK AND JANE DELIMAN

OF COUNSEL:

Mitchell H. Tyner, Sr. (MSB Mark T. McLeod (MSB# Tyner Law Firm, P.A. 5750 I-55 North Jackson, MS 39211

Telephone: (601) 957-1113 Facsimile: (601) 957-6554

Attorneys for PATRICK AND JANE DELIMAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK DELIMAN AND JANE DELIMAN

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2007-CA-00868

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND APPLIED THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD IN ABATING THE DELIMANS' EXECUTION EFFORTS AND FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT, IN LIGHT OF INDISPUTABLE EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANTS' DEFAULT, THE DELIMANS HAD IMMEDIATE RIGHT TO EXECUTE UNDER THE FINAL JUDGMENTS AND MISSISSIPPI LAW
- 2. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND APPLIED THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD IN FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANTS WERE ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES IN THE AMOUNT OF \$ 7,662.87 UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MISSISSIPPI LITIGATION ACCOUNTABILITY ACT, MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-55-1, ET SEQ.
- 3. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND APPLIED THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD IN FAILING TO ESTOP THE DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO QUASH AND ABATE EXECUTION BECAUSE THE DEFENDANTS WERE NOT PROCEEDING WITH CLEAN HANDS AND WERE MAKING ARGUMENTS CONTRARY TO POSITIONS THEY PREVIOUSLY TOOK IN THE LITIGATION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts and Procedural History

Procedural Posture

This appeal arises from chancery court Orders quashing writs of garnishment and subpoena's duces tecum, and awarding to the Defendants (Appellees herein), Anthony Clark Thomas ("Thomas") and ACT Environmental, Inc. ("ACT"), attorneys' fees, damages and expenses in aggregate amount of \$7,662.87 to be paid by the Appellants or their attorneys. R. at 434. Chancellor Cynthia Brewer mandated the penalty should be paid within fourteen days of April 16, 2007, the date of the orders. R. at 436. The Court imposed this punitive measure on the ground that Delimans' counsel had sought execution in bad faith on a previous Final Judgment on Damages (R. at 319) dated

October 16, 2006 awarding the Delimans judgment in the amount \$44,163.75 in attorney's fees, damages and expenses. This expense arose from the onus of prosecuting their case against Thomas and ACT who wastefully and needlessly prolonged the litigation with dishonest conduct and frivolous motion practice. Up until the Defendants' motions to quash, the case had been handled by Chancellor William J. Lutz. On December 8, 2006 Judge Lutz amended the Final Judgment on motion of the Delimans to raise the award to \$45,343.75. R. at 355-57.

The Lawsuit

This case commenced on August 15, 2005 when the Delimans filed action in the Chancery Court of Madison County against Thomas and ACT alleging these Defendants sold them property in a manner that breached contractual obligations and the covenant against encumbrances. R. at 1-16. The Complaint set forth the facts underlying the claim with attachments. On or about April 28, 2000, Thomas as President of ACT executed and delivered a Warranty Deed concerning a certain tract of land to a man name Robinson. R. at 2, 9. Robinson built a house and installed a waste disposal system on the land. R. at 2. On or about December 11, 2003, the Delimans as buyers and Thomas as seller executed an Acreage Contract for the purchase and sale of Lots 5 and 6 located in the subdivision of Madisonville Estate, located in Madison County, Mississippi. R. at 2, 12-13.

Paragraph 10 of the Acreage Contract provided in relevant part that "[t]itle shall be good and marketable, subject only to the following items recorded in the Chancery Clerk's office of said County; easements without encroachments, applicable zoning ordinances, protective covenants and prior mineral reservations..." R. at 2-3, 12.

Paragraph 11(c) of the Acreage Contract provided that "[i]f it becomes necessary to insure the performance of the conditions of this contract for either party to hire legal counsel, then the defaulting party agrees to pay reasonable attorney's fees and court costs in connection therewith." R. at 3, 12. Paragraph 12 of the Acreage Contract provided that all express representations, warranties, and covenants would survive closing, except where specified to the contrary in the agreement. R. at 3, 13.

On or about January 16, 2004, the Delimans paid ACT \$162,802.50 for the Lots and Thomas as President of ACT executed a Warranty Deed and delivered it to them. R. at 3, 14-15. Thomas individually and as President of ACT failed to disclose unrecorded servitudes and conveyances burdening the property in breach of the contractual obligations and covenants the Defendants assumed. R. at 3. After buying the property, the Delimans observed waste water flowing onto the property and determined that the water originated from the adjoining north Robinson property. R. at 3. The Delimans sought damages and relief for Thomas' and ACT's breach of contract, breach of the covenant against encumbrances, trespass, private nuisance, slander of title, and declaratory judgment.

Service of Process and the Bad Faith Conduct of the Defendants

Thomas and ACT were personally served by hand delivery of the Complaint and Summons to their agent for service of process, Geraldine Harbin. R. at 29, 31, 33. Upon each filed Proof of Service, "personal service" is attested to with clarification of the fact that copies were deliver to "Geraldine Harbin on Behalf of Anthony Thomas" and "Geraldine Harbin on behalf of Anthony Thomas, agent" for ACT. *Id.* The Proofs indicated service took place on October 14, 2005. *Id.*

Upon Thomas' and ACT's complete failure to plead, answer, or otherwise defend the suit, the Delimans filed an Application to Clerk for Entry of Default and Supporting Affidavit on November 29, 2005. R. at 37-39. A Docket Entry of Default by Thomas and ACT was made and filed on this date. R. at 40-41. Nonetheless, the Defendants obtained representation of counsel and depositions of Thomas and ACT were noticed for January 12, 2006. R. at 42-58. On December 20, 2005, Thomas and ACT through their counsel filed a consolidated Entry of Appearance for the Sole Purpose of Challenging Jurisdiction, and Motion to Dismiss. R. at 61. The Defendants alleged that they had not been properly served, contending that Geraldine Harbin was not authorized to accept service of process on behalf of either Defendant. *Id.* The motion was supported by affidavits of Thomas and the Defendants' attorney all alleging that Harbin did not have authority to accept service on behalf of either Defendant. R. at 59-63.

The Delimans filed an Application for Default Judgment on January 19, 2005. R. at 67. The Delimans informed the Court that after being served with process, the Defendants called them to discussed possible settlement of the lawsuit. R. at 70. However, the Defendants never filed an Answer or other responsive pleading to the Complaint even though they were aware of the action. R. at 70. Having deliberately and willfully abstained from responding to or defending the suit, the Defendants further created unnecessary delay and expense by unilaterally deciding not to attend the depositions that had been scheduled. R. at 72. An Order was issued setting the Application for Default Judgment for hearing at 1:00 p.m., February 13, 2006. R. at 106. The Certificate of Service reflected that the Order setting the hearing was mailed to counsel for the Defendants on January 23, 2006. R. at 107

On February 13, 2007 the Delimans' counsel appeared before the Honorable William J. Lutz, Chancellor, prepared to proceed on the Application for Default Judgment. T. at 11. Judge Lutz noted that the Defendants' counsel was not present. T. at 11. Delimans' counsel and Judge Lutz discussed the fact that the Defendants had been given notice of the hearing by mail, with a copy of the Court's Order enclosed. T. at 12. The Court noted the Certificate of Service proving the fact. T. at 12. Judge Lutz was further informed that notice of the hearing, with the offer to amicably schedule for an alternative date, had been given to the Defendants on three occasions. T. at 13.

Nonetheless, the Plaintiffs put on the evidence of proper service and default. T. at 13. Process server Martha Via testified to her credentials and with specificity about the fact that she served the Defendants and that they accepted it through their agent Ms. Harbin. T. 13-16. Of particular note was the fact that the description of a man Ms. Via talked to identifying Ms. Harbin as the Defendants' agent fit that of Thomas. T. at 16. Mrs. Deliman corroborated Ms. Via's Description. T. at 18. Default Judgment was entered against Defendants Thomas and ACT on February 13, 2006. R. at 111-112. An Order was issued setting a hearing on damages for 9:00 a.m., April 12, 2006, "to determine the amount of damages to be included in a Final Default Judgment against the Defendants Anthony Clark Thomas and ACT Environmental, Inc. (emphasis added) R. at 113.

On March 10, 2006, The Defendants filed another Entry of Appearance for the Sole Purpose of Challenging Jurisdiction, and Amended Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. R. at 114-128. The Defendants unilaterally set this motion for hearing on

April 12, 2006. R. at 129-30. The hearing on the Defendants' motion went forward on April 12. T. at 27.

Defendants' counsel first called Ms. Harbin to the stand to testify. T. at 28. She was asked if Thomas had authorized her to receive service on his behalf regarding any lawsuit. T. at 30. She answered, "Not that I can remember, no." *Id.* She was also asked if ACT had authorized her to receive service on its behalf. T. at 31. She responded, "Not that I recall, no." *Id.* She denied having received service of the process after being given authority to do so. *Id.*

On cross examination Ms. Harbin was asked if she recalled the occasion when Ms. Via came into the office and personally served the Defendants by delivering her copies of process. T. at 32. She balked at the question, inquiring "What date was that?" *Id.* She was reminded of the date of October 14, 2005. *Id.* She responded that, because there are so many runners that come to the office, people delivering envelopes, she would say she really did not recall the occasion. *Id.* She was impeached by her own affidavit. T. at 31-34. Suddenly, she could remember Ms. Via coming in to serve the process. *Id.* However, Ms. Harbin had convenient lapses of memory. She could not recall where she was when Ms. Via came in, and regressed into the assertion that she could not remember anything specific. T. at 35. She was unwilling to acknowledge that Mr. Thomas, in fact, had been at the front door and pointed out that Ms. Via could serve the Defendants by delivering process to Ms. Harbin. T. at 35.

Thomas was the next to testify. He denied giving Ms. Harbin authority to accept process for him personally or on behalf of ACT. T. at 40, 50. On cross Mr. Thomas' lack of respect for his wrongful actions and for the fact that he had been served was

evident. He asserted the lawsuit was "frivolous" and refused to authorize his attorney to receive service because of his opinion. T. at 51, 53. He received and read the Complaint and recalled the day the process server came to his office. T. at 54. He was asked if he remembered standing next to the front door where the process server entered on that day. *Id.* He responded, "Not to my knowledge." *Id.* He denied standing at the front door and directing Ms. Harbin to accept service for the Defendants. *Id.* He admitted he would call Ms. Harbin "Geri or Ms. Geri." T. at 55.

Ms. Via testified with specificity about the details of serving the process, including running into a male that fit Thomas' description when she entered the office to serve the process. T. at 62-64. She told him she was there to see Anthony Clark Thomas, and he lied that "He is not here." T. at 64. He then told Ms. Via that "Mrs. Geri can probably help you." *Id.* He motioned in Ms. Geri's direction and Ms. Via spoke with her about serving Thomas. T. at 64-5. Ms. Harbin glanced at Mr. Thomas and she misrepresented within earshot of Mr. Thomas that "he is not here." T. at 65. Ms. Via clarified she was serving process on Thomas and ACT, and Ms. Harbin clarified she could take the process for both. *Id.*

The Defendants' attorney took the stand and testified that he did receive the Application for Default Judgment. T. at 73. However, he claimed he did not receive the notice setting the February 13, 2006 hearing on the Application. *Id.* He admitted to receiving the Application and a letter offering to withdraw the Entry of Default if the Defendants would file an Answer. T. at 74. He denied getting another letter thereafter again offering to withdraw the Entry of Default in exchange for a substantive Answer. *Id.*

The Delimans' co-counsel, James Sykes, took the stand to testify about the circumstances in which notice of the hearing for the Application of Default was given to the Defendants. He testified that he drafted and mailed a letter on January 18, 2006 advising the Defendants' counsel of the hearing date, and enclosed copies of the Application for Default Judgment and the Notice of Hearing. T. at 76-77. Mr. Sykes also testified that he advised the Defendants' counsel that if he had a conflict, the Delimans would gladly work with the Defendants to reset the matter. T. at 77. The letter also contained an offer to withdraw the Clerk's Entry of Default if the Defendants would file an Answer to the Complaint by January 30th, 2006. Id. The same offer was made by letter dated January 23, 2006. Id. The letter contained a copy of the Court's Order setting the hearing. T. at 78. Mr. Sykes indicated that he had only made the offer to withdraw the Entry of Default in the two letters, and had never communicated such to the Defendants' counsel outside of the written correspondence. Id. Mail and postage records kept by Mr. Sykes verified that he had forwarded the letters to the Defendants' counsel on the two dates indicated. T. at 79.

In closing, the Delimans' counsel pointed out to the Court that the evidence unequivocally showed that notice of the February 13, 2006 hearing had been given, because the only way the Defendants' counsel could have known about the offer to withdraw the Entry of Default was to look at the January 18 and 23 letters that Mr. Sykes had sent him. T. at 86. These correspondences contained The Notice of Hearing as well as the Court's Order setting the hearing, along with the Application for Default. The Defendants' attorney admitted receipt of the first letter. All of the correspondences sent to the Defendants' attorneys can be found at R. 147-155, and the mail records verifying

the mailings can be found at R. 156-57. Accordingly, there was nothing for the Court to do but dismiss the arguments of the Defendants and uphold the Default Judgment. The Court informed the parties it would consider the evidence and rule after the hearing. T. at 88.

A Notice of Hearing on Plaintiffs' Damages setting the matter for June 7, 2006 at 9:00 a.m. was forwarded to the Defendants' counsel on April 28, 2006. R. at 165-66. Judge Lutz issued his Opinion on the Defendants' special Entry of Appearance and Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment on April 27, 2006. R. at 168-175. The Court commenced its opinion with a review of the procedural background, noting the Proofs of Service indicating that both Defendants appeared to have been effectively served by Ms. Via through their agent, Geraldine Harbin. R. at 168. Under the "Notice of Hearing" Section, Judge Lutz concluded after review of the evidence and testimony of the Defendants' attorney that, "The Court is convinced that Ernest Stewart, Esq. (counsel for Defendants) was properly noticed of the February 13, 2006 Default Judgment Hearing." R. at 170.

The Court then broached the issue of whether Ms. Harbin was authorized to accept service of process on behalf of Thomas, individually, and as registered agent for ACT. R. at 171. The Court ruled that "Geraldine Harbin...was not a credible witness." *Id.* The Court observed that Ms. Harbin "tended to have selected moments of clarity regarding the events of October 14, 2005," but the Court found "it highly suspect that she was unable to recall or remember any events which could be unfavorable to her employer, Anthony Clark Thomas." *Id.* The Court then reviewed specific items of testimony about the circumstances of service, noting such deceptions as her "complete

lapse in memory" and her appearance "to the Court to be playing ignorant." T. at 171-72. Specifically, the Court found that, consistent with the facts she set forth in her affidavit, "Geraldine Harbin is fully aware of what her affidavit is and its importance in legal proceedings." R. at 172. The Court concluded:

...Geraldine Harbin's memory of events became quiet (sic.) clear. She was able to describe in detail her conversation with the process server (Martha Via). Then her memory failed again. Geraldine Harbin was unable to recall if she was in the reception area or had been summoned to the reception area by Anthony Clarke Thomas. She was also unable to recall if Anthony Clarke Thomas was present when the exchange between her and the process server occurred. Once again, Geri's selective memory of events further discredited her testimony. Geri remembered only events that bolstered her employees (sic.) position and couldn't "recall' or "remember" anything else. R. at 173.

As to Martha Via, the Court found her to be an extremely credible witness. The Court gave credence to her testimony concerning the actions she took to effect service, the presence and conversation with Mr. Thomas, and her claim that Mr. Thomas and Ms. Harbin lied about his identity and presence. R. at 173-74.

The Court did not find Thomas to be a credible witness and found that Ms. Harbin, acting as an apparent agent, accepted service of process for Thomas individually and as agent for ACT. R. at 174-5.

On May 25, 2006, new counsel entered an appearance on behalf of the Defendants. R. at 185. On June 14, 2006, on the eve of the June 15 damages trial hearing, the Defendants filed yet another Amended Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. R. at 235. The grounds advanced in the motion did not materially differ from those of the previous motions, but the Defendants attempted to raise the specter of

incompetence of their prior counsel as a new basis to set aside the Default Judgment. However, there can be little doubt that this motion, like the previous ones, was intended by Thomas and ACT to further delay the Delimans' rights to relief and needlessly run up the cost and expense of the litigation. The Plaintiffs filed a response to this 11th hour motion on June 28, 2006, pointing out the infirmities and lack of clean hands evident in the Defendants' new motion. R. at 268-74.

The result was that on June 15, rather than reaching a final resolution in the case by trying the damages and completing the litigation, Judge Lutz, whose work throughout the case exhibited more than a high degree of fairness and levity in consideration of the Defendants' dilatory tactics, was forced to recon with another frivolous motion. T. 95-96. The Delimans' counsel pointed out that the focus was to get the damages paid, but the Defendants' conduct had created a litigation-prolonging vortex that was creating additional damages. T. at 97. Defendants' counsel attempted to suggest that the Delimans did not have a basis to claim the ever increasing amount of attorney's fees they were absorbing owing the Defendants' escapades, but Judge Lutz was quick to state that:

One thing. One thing, please understand this. I want your client to understand this, if I come to the conclusion, upon hearing your motion, if I come to the conclusion that your entitled to a trial on the merits, then that is not, whether you win on the merits or not, is not going to do anything to the costs and expenses that they have had to go to because of what has happened before you got into this case. I mean, they have gone to the extraordinary expenses because of the problems with your side of the case, what has now become your side of the case, whoever those problems were created by. And fees that they have incurred to that, even if you – win on the merits, I'm going to allow them to put on a case for damages as to – certainly, to that piece of the case.

T. at 98-99.

Judge Lutz then commented that "I have bent over backwards to try and to be fair in this case to Mr. Thomas and his side of the case." T. at 99. Because the motion could potentially allow the Defendants to get a "do-over" if the Plaintiffs went forward on damages, Plaintiffs' counsel was forced to recognize that it would neither be procedurally proper nor in the best interests of his clients to conduct a damages trial that the pending motion could render moot. T. at 101, 103, 106. Consequently, Judge Lutz had no alternative but to continue the hearing and permit additional expensive, wasteful litigation concerning another dilatory tactic by the Defendants.

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