IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK DELIMAN AND JANE DELIMAN Appellants

VS.

ANTHONY CLARKE THOMAS AND ACT ENVIRONMENTAL, INC., Appellees

On Appeal From the Chancery Court of Madison County, Mississippi Docket No. 2005-0744

BRIEF OF APPELLEES Oral Argument is not requested

Keith W. Turner
Stephen W. Rimmer
Chad J. Hammons
Karen Gwinn Clay
WATKINS LUDLAM WINTER
& STENNIS, P.A.
633 North State Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39202
(601) 949-4900 – Telephone
(601) 949-4804 – Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEES ANTHONY CLARK THOMAS AND ACT ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Judge Brewer did not abuse her discretion in finding that the Delimans' execution efforts were in bad faith, unwarranted and unauthorized, as there is substantial evidence to support a finding of no default by Thomas and ACT. The Order entered by Judge Lutz plainly required Thomas and ACT to make payments on or before the 30th of every month, until the judgment was paid in full. The testimony and undisputed evidence provided during the March 9, 2007

⁷ The Delimans did not dispute that Thomas called and discussed the December payment with Tyner's office manager, Martha. According to Thomas, Martha said it was fine to place the December payment back in the mail, and no one was called to rebut this testimony.

hearing supported a finding that Thomas complied with Judge Lutz's Order by making payment on December 22, 2007.

Judge Brewer allowed both parties to discuss what each believed to be a reasonable interpretation of Judge Lutz's Order. The Delimans focused on the language that stated "the stay of execution will immediately lift" and equated that language with an automatic right to execute collection efforts on a unilateral and non-judicial determination of default. The gravamen of the Delimans' argument presupposes that there was an actual default, when there was none. As the evidence established, timely payment was made, rendering the issue of interpreting Judge Lutz's Order regarding execution moot. Nonetheless, Judge Brewer's interpretation of the Order was proper.

Finally, the Chancellor's decision to award damages, attorneys' fees and costs was not an abuse of discretion where the evidence reflected manifest bad faith on the part of the Delimans.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. The Standard of Review is Abuse of Discretion

This Court employs a limited standard of review on appeals from a chancery court.

Miller v. Pannell, 815 So.2d 1117, 1119 (Miss. 2002). Great deference is given to the chancellor in his or her findings of fact, and the Court should not disturb those findings unless they are found to be manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous, or where the chancellor applied an incorrect legal standard. In re Estate of Ladner, 909 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 2004). In doing so, the Court's job is to determine whether there was substantial, credible evidence supporting the chancellor's findings such that the decision was not manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. In re Estate of Carter v. Shackelford, 912 So.2d 138, 143 (Miss. 2005).

The Appellees respectfully submit that this Court, in rendering its decision, should show deference to the chancellor as she was the only one to hear the testimony of witnesses, observe their demeanor and was in the best position to evaluate credibility. *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So.2d 705, 708 (Miss. 1983).

The same deferential standard of review is also applied to the chancellor's award of attorneys' fees. *Cruse v. Nunley*, 699 So.2d 941 (Miss. 1997).

In regards to interpreting another chancellor's order, the review is *de novo. Meek v.*Warren, 726 So.2d 1292, 1293-94 (Miss. Ct. App.1998). The Court should look to the judgment as a whole to determine the intent of the chancellor:

"When questions of meaning arise" as to a judgment, "answers are sought by the same rules of construction which appertain to other legal documents." *Estate of Stamper v. Edwards*, 607 So.2d 1141, 1145 (Miss.1992). "The determinative factor is the intent of the court ... as gathered ... from all parts of the judgment itself." 46 Am. Jur. 2d Judgments § 94 (1994). If the language of a judgment is unambiguous, construction is improper. *Id*.

Balius v. Gaines, 908 So.2d 791, 798(¶ 16) (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (internal quotations and citations in original).

B. There is substantial evidence to support the Chancellor's decision that Thomas and ACT were not in default of the December payment

Substantial evidence is defined as "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion or to put it simply, more than a mere scintilla of evidence." *Tucker v. Prisock*, 791 So.2d 190, 192 (Miss. 2001). Judge Lutz's Order required Thomas "to make monthly payments to the Tyner Law Firm of \$1,500 a month, on or before the 30th of each month, until paid in full." (R. at 356, ¶ VIII) The evidence is not only substantial, but is clear and convincing, showing that Thomas made his December payment on or before December 30th, which supports the Chancellor's finding that there was no default by Thomas.

1. The undisputed evidence established that Thomas *made* timely payments

The law supports a finding that payment was timely made when Thomas placed the check in the mail. As Judge Brewer correctly stated, "[T]here are more than many litigated issues regarding placing something into the Postal Service as being the date of delivery." (T. at 389, lines 16-18). Fundamental common law principles of contracts support the Chancellor's finding that when Thomas placed the check in the mail on December 22, 2006, payment was timely made. See Lynch v. Miss. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co., 880 So.2d 1065, 1071 (Miss. App. 2004) (citing Estate of Beinhauer v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 893 F.2d 782, 786 (5th Cir. 1990).

The Lynch and Beinhaeur cases deal specifically with insurance contracts and making timely premium payments. In Beinhaeur, Chief Judge Charles Clark held that when the policy does not otherwise define the term payment, the mailing of the premium would suffice. 893 F.2d at 786. In Lynch, the policy itself and the notice of renewal "unambiguously" informed the defendants that the premium was to be "received" and not merely "made" by a certain date otherwise a lapse in coverage would occur. 880 So.2d at 1071.

Here, Judge Lutz did not define what was required by "make payment," therefore, the the mailbox rule applies – making Thomas' payment on December 22, 2006 timely. See 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 99 ("If there is no direction as to the mode of communicating the acceptance of an offer, the acceptance may be accomplished through the mail, unless it can fairly and reasonably inferred from the offer or other prior communication that some other means is expected."). Thomas and the Delimans had already established that the submission of payment by the mail was acceptable for the two (2) payments preceding the December payment. Under the common principles of contract law, "the contract is completed at the moment the acceptor

deposits in the mail a letter of acceptance," if directed to the proper address with postage prepaid.

Id.; accord Restatements, Contracts 2d § 66.

The Delimans' Brief repeatedly asserts that the evidence is undisputed that Thomas was in default and then embarks upon a tedious, convoluted and fallacious series of arguments in an effort to give credibility to their position. However, the Delimans' Brief offers no citations in the record or transcript or citations to any case law which support that a payment will be considered untimely due to the inactions of the party seeking to enforce the payment. Despite Delimans assertion that Thomas was in default, the transcript is replete with evidence and testimony that Thomas mailed his December payment on December 22, 2006. (T. at 354); Exhibit 1 (the postmark date on the unclaimed certified mail containing Thomas' December payment states "December 22, 2006). Also, the only witness called by the Delimans, Patrick Deliman, agreed that December 22nd was the date payment was made. (T. at 372-373) (see also Delimans' closing argument T. at 386, lines 15-17, admitting that Delimans "actually believed [Thomas] did send it and somehow the mail messed up, and so it didn't get there on time.").

2. The Chancellor's interpretation of Judge Lutz's Order was proper

As a threshold matter, should the Court determine that the Chancellor did not abuse her discretion in finding Thomas' payment was timely, it need not address what the correct interpretation of Judge Lutz Order is regarding execution and garnishment. In other words, by affirming the Chancellor's finding of no default, the second issue, in effect, becomes moot. Nonetheless in case the Court finds that the Chancellor abused her discretion and was clearly erroneous in her evaluation of the evidence, the judgment should still be affirmed based on the Chancellor's proper interpretation of Judge Lutz's Order.

The Delimans' assert several times in their brief that they were entitled to an immediate right to execute the judgment pursuant to the language of the Order. However, such an assertion presupposes that Thomas and ACT were in default and presupposes that Judge Lutz authorized the Delimans to make a unilateral and non-judicial determination of default.

Thomas and ACT concede that *had* there been a judicial determination regarding default, the Delimans would have had a right to execute the judgment for payment in full. However, absent of such a judicial determination to authorize execution, the Delimans had no right to seek collection in such a manner.

The Delimans have not relied on any case law to support their contention that they had an immediate right to execute judgment and even admit that the law is not exactly clear regarding garnishment proceedings. *See Appellants' Br.* p. 25 stating "it *seems* that Mississippi law embraces immediate execution by use of garnishment to enforce chancery decrees awarding money.") (emphasis added). As such, the Delimans rely on common principles of statutory construction in determining the plain meaning of Judge Lutz's Order, which is exactly the interpretation method and means applied by the Chancellor. During the March 9, 2007 hearing, the following argument was made by the Delimans:

THE COURT: Counsel, what privilege did your client or you have to use the avenues of collection without further order of this Court?

MR. TYNER: It's by operation of the Judgment.

THE COURT: No, it's not. It doesn't say the Judgment could be collected or would be rendered in collectionability at that time. It just says that it would be due and owing, which means – if you study your collection law – that you had the privilege of ignoring payment plans and immediately begin execution. But execution requires order of privilege of the Court.

And I don't see any efforts in your file that shows the Judgment was immediately executable, therefore, requests the right of garnishment. I don't see anything in there. And that's my problem with you making this argument is that if we

disregard the lateness or the inability to get it there because of the Postal Service, whatever the case may be, then there was a duty incumbent upon your representing your client to come back to Court and say that is now a judgment in the full sum of [said amount].

(T. at 384-85)

The Supreme Court has held that Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 11-35-1 through 11-35-61 provide the procedural rules for a party who seeks to enforce or assail the enforcement of a garnishment. *First Miss. Nat'l Bank v. KLH Indus., Inc.*, 457 So.2d 1333, 1338 (Miss. 1984). A thoughtful review of those statutes does not establish that a judgment creditor has an immediate right to execute on a judgment by the judgment creditor's unilateral determination that there was a default in payment. In fact, Mississippi Code Annotated Section 11-5-81 states:

Whenever the court shall render an order, judgment, or decree for the payment of money against any executor, administrator, or guardian or any other party litigant therein, the compliance with such order, judgment or decree *may be enforced* by process fieri facias or garnishment.

(emphasis added). The words "may be enforced" are a far cry from an "immediate right to execute without a judicial determination of default." Furthermore, the law is well established that the burden is on the garnishor to prove that the garnishee is liable to the judgment creditor. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Eakins, 748 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1999) (citing Grenada Bankv. Seligam, 143 So.474, 475 (Miss. 1932). Without a judicial determination of default, the Delimans had no right to commence collection efforts.

The language of the Order itself provides that *should* Defendants default, the Plaintiffs will be awarded a judgment. (R. at 320, ¶ 8) This language was interpreted by Judge Brewer to anticipate that the issue of whether Thomas defaulted first needed to judicially determined, making it a two-step process. Judge Brewer's interpretation is correct as it prevents the

Delimans, and others similarly situated, from unilaterally determining default and in effect, arrogating judicial authority.

C. The Chancellor Did Not Abuse Her Discretion in Awarding Attorneys' Fees, Damges and Costs Against the Delimans

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 11-55-5 states in pertinent part that:

the court shall award, as part of its judgment and in addition to any other costs otherwise assessed, reasonable attorney's fees and costs against any party or attorney if the court . . . finds that an attorney or party brought an action . . . that is without substantial justification, or that the action . . . was interposed for delay or harassment . . .

Substantial justification is defined as any action "frivolous, groundless in fact or in law, or vexatious, as determined by the Court." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-3(a). The determination of attorney fees is largely within the sound discretion of the chancellor. *Adcock v. Van Norman*, 918 So.2d 747 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), *cert. granted*, 920 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 2005) and judgment aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 917 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2005).

The evidence presented during the March 9, 2007 hearing established that the Delimans' collection actions were taken for the purpose of vexation and were wholly unreasonable. There was no default because Thomas had "made payment" by placing his December payment into the mail via certified mail on December 22, 2006. In addition, when Thomas' December payment was returned unclaimed he immediately called the Tyner Law Firm and spoke with the office manager, demonstrating utmost good faith on his part. (T. at 390, lines 19-22) ("And the Court finds that the Judgment Debtor attempted and in a good faith effort sought to utilize what Judge Lutz gave him pursuantto the December 8, 2006, Order.)

The Court found it "burdensome that when addressed certified mail, which is very clear to the Court as to the address, and the Postal service documents three reasonable efforts to deliver a certified mail to a reasonably addressed document, that the Judgment Creditor, through

counsel, would disregard the duties to begin collection efforts." (T. at 389, lines 18-24). On top of the evidence presented regarding the December 22 mailing and Thomas' telephone conversation with the office manager about getting the payment to the Tyner Law Firm, it is clear that at the time collection efforts were begun, the Delimans had received all four (4) payments. Clearly, it was not an abuse of discretion for the court to assess damages and attorneys' fees regarding the Delimans' bad faith efforts to execute on a judgment for which they had already obtained all payments due.

Finally, the Delimans take issue that the Court awarded attorneys' fees without an evidentiary hearing to determine the propriety and reasonableness of the award. *Appellants' Br.* p. 27. The propriety of the attorneys' fees was established during the March 9, 2007. *Supra.* To require the court to conduct another hearing to determine the appropriateness of the attorneys' fees where the court had already found the Delimans' actions in bad faith is a waste of private and judicial resources. Furthermore, the Delimans' were afforded an opportunity to oppose the reasonableness of Thomas and ACT's attorneys' fees, and chose not to do so. (R. at 436) (Order "transmitted for Review to Mr. Tyner on March 15, 2007—Not Returned").

D. The Unclean Hands Argument Was Not Preserved On Appeal

It is a well established law in Mississippi "that a trial judge will not be found in error for an issue that was not presented to him for a decision" *R.W. Aiken Ins. Agency v. SevenOaks Capitol Corp.*, 930 So.2d 444, 448 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Jones v. State*, 606 So.2d 1051, 1058 (Miss. 1992). The Delimans *never* presented to the court below that Thomas and ACT were not entitled to seek relief from the Delimans' bad faith execution because of the unclean hands

⁸ The Delimans claim that the office manager did not refuse to sign for certified mail, but do not dispute that the office manager spoke to Thomas regarding the December payment when it was returned to Thomas unclaimed. (See T. 392, lines 22-29).

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